Unit II:  Such a Deal!

Voluntary Transfers of Property Rights

Chapter 4:  Where There’s a Will … 
and Where There Isn’t:  Property Transfer at Death
INTESTATE SUCCESSION:  OVERVIEW

I.  When a person dies, any property she possesses that is not distributed by a valid will, passes to her heirs through the intestacy process.  Thus, property passes by intestacy in two situations:


A.  If a “decedent” (the person who died) leaves no valid will, all her property passes through intestacy;


B.  If she leaves a valid will, but the will does not dispose of all her property, the property not disposed of by the will passes through intestacy.

II.
Every American state has a statute describing who gets property that passes through intestacy.  The rules vary greatly from state to state.  The general form they take is as follows:


A.
A surviving spouse usually will receive all property if the decedent leaves no lineal descendants and no living parents.  If there are lineal descendants (and in some jurisdictions if there are living parents) the spouse will receive either a fixed percentage of the estate, usually 1/2 or 1/3, or some money off the top, then a fixed percentage of the rest.  For example, in Florida, if you die survived by a spouse and 3 children by that spouse, the spouse will receive $60,000 plus 1/2 of the rest of the intestate property.  Florida, like many other states, gives the spouse less if the surviving lineal descendants are not also descendants of the surviving spouse (e.g., the decedent’s children from a prior marriage).  The idea seems to be that a step-parent may be less likely to care for someone else's children then his/her own.


B.
The property that does not go to the spouse (or all the property if there is no spouse) usually goes to the lineal descendants next, although some states split the property between the decedent's parents and the lineal descendants.


C.
Every state statute lists the relatives who will take if there are no lineal descendants, and no spouse.  Usually, parents and their descendants (i.e., siblings, nephews, nieces, etc.) take first, then grandparents and their descendants, and so on.  Often, as in Florida, property will be divided 1/2 to the decedent's mother's family and 1/2 to the decedent's father's family.  Some states allow any blood relative to take, no matter how far removed.  Others cut off the heirs at some point.  For example, Florida limits recovery to relatives no further removed than descendants of grandparents.  


D.
If no relative can be found that meets the legal definition of "heir", the property will pass to the state through the process called “escheat.”


E.
Every state has a number of definitional and limiting provisions.  Often they explain, for example, the treatment of adopted and illegitimate children and relatives of half-blood, and state that murderers cannot receive property from the estate of the person they murdered.  


F.
Every state statute contains directions for dividing property between a number of relatives of the same type (e.g., nephews and nieces, or first cousins) who all take together.  Part of your task in Written Assignment III will be to figure out how this works in your state and to explain it in terms a layperson can understand.  

III.
Keep in mind that if you don't like the way the intestacy statutes divide up your property, you can always write a will.
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FLORIDA STATUTES: INTESTATE SUCCESSION
(Fl. Stat. §732.101 et seq.)
732.101. Intestate estate.

(1) Any part of the estate of a decedent not effectively disposed of by will passes to the decedent's heirs as prescribed in the following sections of this code.

(2) The decedent's death is the event that vests the heirs' right to intestate property.

732.102.  Spouse's share of intestate estate.  The intestate share of the surviving spouse is:
(1)  If there is no surviving descendant of the decedent, the entire intestate estate.

(2)  If there are surviving descendants of the decedent, all of whom are also lineal descendants of the surviving spouse, the first $60,000 of the intestate estate, plus one-half of the balance of the intestate 
(3)  If there are surviving descendants, one or more of whom are not lineal descendants of the surviving spouse, one-half of the intestate estate.

732.103. Share of other heirs.  The part of the intestate estate not passing to the surviving spouse under §732.102, or the entire intestate estate if there is no surviving spouse, descends as follows:

(1)  To the descendants of the decedent.

(2)  If there is no descendant, to the decedent's father and mother equally, or to the survivor of them.

(3)  If there is none of the foregoing, to the decedent's brothers and sisters and the descendants of deceased brothers and sisters.

(4)  If there is none of the foregoing, the estate shall be divided, one-half of which shall go to the decedent's paternal, and the other half to the decedent's maternal, kindred in the following order:

(a)  To the grandfather and grandmother equally, or to the survivor of them.

(b)  If there is no grandfather or grandmother, to uncles and aunts and descendants of deceased uncles and aunts of the decedent.

(c)  If there is either no paternal kindred or no maternal kindred, the estate shall go to the other kindred who survive, in the order stated above.

(5)  If there is no kindred of either part, the whole of the property shall go to the kindred of the last deceased spouse of the decedent as if the deceased spouse had survived the decedent and then died intestate entitled to the estate. …
732.104. Inheritance per stirpes.  
Descent shall be per stirpes, whether to lineal descendants or to collateral heirs.

732.105. Half blood.  When property descends to the collateral kindred of the intestate and part of the collateral kindred are of the whole blood to the intestate and the other part of the half blood, those of the half blood shall inherit only half as much as those of the whole blood; but if all are of the half blood they shall have whole parts.

732.106. Afterborn heirs.  Heirs of the decedent conceived before his or her death, but born thereafter, inherit intestate property as if they had been born in the decedent's lifetime.

732.107  Escheat.—

(1)  When a person dies leaving an estate without being survived by any person entitled to a part of it, that part shall escheat to the state.

(2)  Property that escheats shall be sold as provided in the Florida Probate Rules and the proceeds paid to the Chief Financial Officer of the state and deposited in the State School Fund.  …
732.108.  Adopted persons and persons born out of wedlock.
(1)  For the purpose of intestate succession by or from an adopted person, the adopted person is a descendant of the adopting parent and is one of the natural kindred of all members of the adopting parent's family, and is not a descendant of his or her natural parents, nor is he or she one of the kindred of any member of the natural parent's family or any prior adoptive parent's family, except that:

(a)  Adoption of a child by the spouse of a natural parent has no effect on the relationship between the child and the natural parent or the natural parent's family.

(b)  Adoption of a child by a natural parent's spouse who married the natural parent after the death of the other natural parent has no effect on the relationship between the child and the family of the deceased natural parent.

(c)  Adoption of a child by a close relative … has no effect on the relationship between the child and the families of the deceased natural parents.

(2)  For the purpose of intestate succession in cases not covered by subsection (1), a person born out of wedlock is a descendant of his or her mother and is one of the natural kindred of all members of the mother's family. The person is also a descendant of his or her father and is one of the natural kindred of all members of the father's family, if:

(a)  The natural parents participated in a marriage ceremony before or after the birth of the person born out of wedlock, even though the attempted marriage is void.

(b)  The paternity of the father is established by an adjudication before or after the death of the father. …

(c)  The paternity of the father is acknowledged in writing by the father.

732.109.  Debts to decedent. A debt owed to the decedent shall not be charged against the intestate share of any person except the debtor. If the debtor does not survive the decedent, the debt shall not be taken into account in computing the intestate share of the debtor's heirs.

732.1101.  Aliens.  Aliens shall have the same rights of inheritance as citizens.

732.601.  Simultaneous Death Law. … 
(1)  When title to property or its devolution depends on priority of death and there is insufficient evidence that the persons have died otherwise than simultaneously, the property of each person shall be disposed of as if that person survived. …
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WILLS:  OVERVIEW OF SELECTED ISSUES 
I.
For our purposes, I would like you to be aware that


A.
You need certain formalities to make a will valid


B.
A will that meets these formalities still can be invalid if either 



1.
the person writing the will-- the "testator"--is underage or incompetent OR



2.
fraud, duress or undue influence affects the creation of the will.  


C.
There are substantive limits on your power to make a will.

II.
Formalities: statutes describe requirements in every jurisdiction and the requirements vary a lot:  look at carefully before attempting to create a will.


A.
Signature



1.  Testator must sign will or (in some states including California and Florida) someone else may sign for him in his presence at his direction



2.  Some jurisdictions (including Florida) signature must appear at the end of the will.  If not, may invalidate whole will, or just portion after signature, depending on jurisdiction.



3.  Testator must sign before the witnesses do



4.  Testator must intend the document be his/her will.  This is called "testamentary intent."

B.
Witnesses



1.  How many?






a.  2 in most states including Florida & California






b.  3 in a few





c.  Good practice to use 3 so will is valid anywhere



2.   Who can be a witness?






a.
Usually: if would be competent to be a witness in court, ok






b.
Some states: minimum age (18 or 21)






c.
Interested witness

i) Definition: a witness who receives property under the terms of the will







ii) Consequences:








A) Most states invalidate gifts to interested witnesses








B) Some (including Calif.): interested witness can take if enough other witnesses are uninterested (e.g., state requires 2 witnesses, will actually had 3, including one interested.  Since third witness superfluous, can take gift) 








C) Some states: if interested witness would receive more property through intestacy if the will was invalid, will allow him/her to take gift.  (E.g., son is testator's only heir.  Under will, will take 1/2.  OK to be witness, since better off if will declared invalid.)








D) California rule:  Presumption of fraud, duress or undue influence by interested witness.







E) Florida: Irrelevant; interested witness takes like any other beneficiary



3.  What Must Witnesses Do?






a.
Watch testator sign will.  What happens if they don’t?






i) Some states invalidate will









ii) Some states including Florida & Calif.: still OK if testator acknowledges that the signature is his.  Watch this rule carefully; the statutes vary as to what this entails






A) Some states testator has to say "This is my will."  







B) Some states testator has to say "This is my signature." 







C) Florida: Testator must convey to witnesses the idea that he is acknowledging signature to his will.

b.
Sign the will as a witness







i) Most states (including Florida) must sign in presence of testator 







ii) complex caselaw re meaning of  "in presence of"

iii) Generally must sign within reasonable time of observing testator sign/acknowledge the will






c.
In presence of other witnesses? 






i) Some jurisdictions, including Florida & Calif., witnesses must be together when they see the testator sign or acknowledge and when they sign.  (Fla. Case: no good when one witness was inadjoining room when others signed).







ii) In some states, witnesses can witness separately.

C. Changes to a will



1.
Generally require all the formalities of the original will



2.
revoking the will just requires destroying the physical document (burning, ripping, crossing out) with intent to revoke.  You also can revoke by executing a subsequent inconsistent will with proper formalities.

 
D. Handwritten ("Holographic") Wills:  some states (including Calif., but not Fla.) will treat a will as valid without witnesses if it is in the testator's handwriting.  The idea is that the chances of forgery are less.  The requirements vary depending on the statutes:



1.  Some states all of will must be in testator's handwriting; some states (like Calif.), just material provisions



2.  Some states, the will must be dated.  In Calif., must be dated if date is needed to establish competence or priority with regards to another will.



3.  Lots of specific caselaw about showing testamentary intent.  Sometimes difficult to tell because just a sentiment expressed in a letter.  For example, one state held the phrase "I would like M to have all my personal effects" to be insufficient indication of intent to make a will.

III.
Competency and Capacity of Testator


A.
Age: some states must be 18 or 21 (chronological, not mental capacity) 



(Fla. & Cal.: 18)


B.
must be of sound mind



1.   Many states (incl. Fal.)  define “sound mind” as able to understand:






a.
nature & extent of your property;






b.
natural objects of your bounty (in other words, the people to whom society would expect you to give your property: spouse, children, family); AND






c.
disposition you are making of your property: what you actually are doing with it)



2.  Relevant Calif. statute contains a version of this test, but also allows proof of incompetence by focusing on a particular illness.



3.  Measure mental capacity at moment will is executed (signed).
a.
OK if testator is sometimes mentally incapacitated, but executes will during "lucid" interval






b. 
Note: if sound mind, can make unreasonable disposition of property



4. If testator executes will under insane delusion: invalid






a.
False belief without reasonable foundation






b.
E.g., "Since Edward has become a gerbil, he no longer needs my money, so I leave it to the Red Cross"






c.
Will has to be product of delusion to be invalidated 

IV.
Fraud, Duress, Undue Influence Invalidate a Will


A.
Fraud:  Each state will define specifically, but involves cases where, e.g., blind testator is told he is signing a will that leaves property to Cordelia when in fact it leaves property to Goneril and Regan.


B.
Duress: Coercion.  Again, check local caselaw.  Involves cases where, e.g., testator signs will with gun to his head.


C.
Undue influence



1.  Domination of testator's mind by another. Florida definition:






a.
"fear, overpersuasion, duress, force or coercion to the extent of destroying the free agency and will power of the testator and must be operative on the mind of the testator at the time the will is executed."  






b.
BUT "influence, consisting of appeals, requests, entreaties, arguments, flattery, cajolery, persuasion, solicitations or even importunity, is legitimate" as long as doesn't destroy free agency of testator.



2.  Must be by a beneficiary or on a beneficiary's behalf



3.  Confidential relationship (e.g., doctors, lawyers, clergy) usually yields presumption of undue influence where the person involved both participated in the preparation of the will and is a substantial beneficiary 

V.
Limits on ability to leave property through will


A.
Spousal Elective Share:  Most jurisdictions (not Calif.) have provisions that a surviving spouse may elect to take a certain minimum amount of the estate (in Florida, it is 30% of the estate) in lieu of taking under the will.  Thus, you generally cannot disinherit your spouse completely.


B.
Homestead and Related Provisions:  Most states have statutes that provide that where a decedent is survived by spouse and lineal descendants, (or sometimes just if there are minor children) the family home, furniture and car, and sometimes some money for necessary expenses must stay in the family for some period of time, sometimes until the children reach adulthood.  



1.  In Florida, the spouse receives a life interest in the homestead, and the descendants take it after the spouse's death.  



2.  In California, court has discretion to award homestead for any length up to spouse’s life or end of children’s minority.

C.
Pretermitted (left out) Spouse or Child Provisions



1.  Statutes may provide that where a spouse or child is not mentioned at all in the will, they receive their intestate share, basically on the theory that they have been forgotten.  If they are mentioned, but explicitly disinherited, the statutes generally do not apply.



2.  These statutes only apply to spouses married after the will was executed, and usually only to children born after the will was executed



3.  Florida and other states do not give shares to pretermitted children if the child's other parent gets the bulk of the estate, under the assumption that the other parent will later take care of the child.



4.
California repealed these in 1997.


D.
Divorce provisions: Generally a divorce will revoke all portions of a will related to the ex-spouse.  If you still want to leave property to an ex-spouse: draft a new will.
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SELECTED FLORIDA LAW RELATING TO WILLS

FLORIDA CONSTITUTION  ARTICLE X
SECTION 4.  Homestead; exemptions.
(a)  There shall be exempt from forced sale under process of any court, and no judgment, decree or execution shall be a lien thereon, except for the payment of taxes and assessments thereon, obligations contracted for the purchase, improvement or repair thereof, or obligations contracted for house, field or other labor performed on the realty, the following property owned by a natural person:

(1)  a homestead, if located outside a municipality, to the extent of one hundred sixty acres of contiguous land and improvements thereon, which shall not be reduced without the owner's consent by reason of subsequent inclusion in a municipality; or if located within a municipality, to the extent of one-half acre of contiguous land, upon which the exemption shall be limited to the residence of the owner or the owner's family;

(2)  personal property to the value of one thousand dollars.

(b)  These exemptions shall inure to the surviving spouse or heirs of the owner.

(c)  The homestead shall not be subject to devise if the owner is survived by spouse or minor child, except the homestead may be devised to the owner's spouse if there be no minor child. The owner of homestead real estate, joined by the spouse if married, may alienate the homestead by mortgage, sale or gift and, if married, may by deed transfer the title to an estate by the entirety with the spouse. If the owner or spouse is incompetent, the method of alienation or encumbrance shall be as provided by law.

FLORIDA STATUTES
732.201. Right to elective share.  The surviving spouse of a person who dies domiciled in Florida shall have the right to a share of the estate of the deceased spouse as provided in this part, to be designated the elective share.

732.2065  Amount of the elective share.  The elective share is an amount equal to 30 percent of the elective estate.

732.2105  Effect of election on other interests. The elective share shall be in addition to homestead, exempt property, and [family] allowances….

732.301. Pretermitted spouse.  When a person marries after making a will and the spouse survives the testator, the surviving spouse shall receive a share in the estate of the testator equal in value to that which the surviving spouse would have received if the testator had died intestate, unless:

(1) Provision has been made for, or waived by, the spouse by prenuptial or postnuptial agreement;

(2) The spouse is provided for in the will;  or

(3) The will discloses an intention not to make provision for the spouse. ...

732.302. Pretermitted children.  When a testator omits to provide in his or her will for any of his or her children born or adopted after making the will and the child has not received a part of the testator's property equivalent to a child's part by way of advancement, the child shall receive a share of the estate equal in value to that he or she would have received if the testator had died intestate, unless:

(1) It appears from the will that the omission was intentional;  or

(2) The testator had one or more children when the will was executed and devised substantially all the estate to the other parent of the pretermitted child. ...

732.401  Descent of homestead.
(1)  If not devised as permitted by law and the Florida Constitution, the homestead shall descend in the same manner as other intestate property; but if the decedent is survived by a spouse and one or more descendants, the surviving spouse shall take a life estate in the homestead, with a vested remainder to the descendants in being at the time of the decedent's death per stirpes.

(2)  Subsection (1) shall not apply to property that the decedent and the surviving spouse owned as tenants by the entirety.

732.4015  Devise of homestead.
(1)  As provided by the Florida Constitution, the homestead shall not be subject to devise if the owner is survived by a spouse or a minor child or minor children, except that the homestead may be devised to the owner's spouse if there is no minor child or minor children. … 
732.402  Exempt property.—

(1)  If a decedent was domiciled in this state at the time of death, the surviving spouse, or, if there is no surviving spouse, the children of the decedent shall have the right to a share of the estate of the decedent as provided in this section, to be designated "exempt property."

(2)  Exempt property shall consist of:

(a)  Household furniture, furnishings, and appliances in the decedent's usual place of abode up to a net value of $20,000 as of the date of death.

(b)  Two motor vehicles as defined in s. 316.003(21), which do not, individually as to either such motor vehicle, have a gross vehicle weight in excess of 15,000 pounds, held in the decedent's name and regularly used by the decedent or members of the decedent's immediate family as their personal motor vehicles. …
732.403  Family allowance. In addition to protected homestead and statutory entitlements, if the decedent was domiciled in Florida at the time of death, the surviving spouse and the decedent's lineal heirs the decedent was supporting or was obligated to support are entitled to a reasonable allowance in money out of the estate for their maintenance during administration. The court may order this allowance to be paid as a lump sum or in periodic installments. The allowance shall not exceed a total of $18,000. It shall be paid to the surviving spouse, if living, for the use of the spouse and dependent lineal heirs. If the surviving spouse is not living, it shall be paid to the lineal heirs or to the persons having their care and custody. If any lineal heir is not living with the surviving spouse, the allowance may be made partly to the lineal heir or guardian or other person having the heir's care and custody and partly to the surviving spouse, as the needs of the dependent heir and the surviving spouse appear. The family allowance is not chargeable against any benefit or share otherwise passing to the surviving spouse or to the dependent lineal heirs, unless the will otherwise provides. The death of any person entitled to a family allowance terminates the right to that part of the allowance not paid. For purposes of this section, the term "lineal heir" or "lineal heirs" means lineal ascendants and lineal descendants of the decedent.

732.501  Who may make a will.  Any person who is of sound mind and who is either 18 or more years of age or an emancipated minor may make a will.

732.502  Execution of wills.  Every will must be in writing and executed as follows:

(1)
(a)  Testator's signature.—

1.  The testator must sign the will at the end; or

2.  The testator's name must be subscribed at the end of the will by some other person in the testator's presence and by the testator's direction.


(b)  Witnesses.—The testator's:

1.  Signing, or

2.  Acknowledgment:

a.  That he or she has previously signed the will, or

b.  That another person has subscribed the testator's name to it,


must be in the presence of at least two attesting witnesses.

(c)  Witnesses' signatures.—The attesting witnesses must sign the will in the presence of the testator and in the presence of each other.

(2)  Any will, other than a holographic or nuncupative will, executed by a nonresident of Florida, either before or after this law takes effect, is valid as a will in this state if valid under the laws of the state or country where the will was executed. A will in the testator's handwriting that has been executed in accordance with subsection (1) shall not be considered a holographic will.

(3)  Any will executed as a military testamentary instrument in accordance with 10 U.S.C. §1044d, Chapter 53, by a person who is eligible for military legal assistance is valid as a will in this state.

(4)  No particular form of words is necessary to the validity of a will if it is executed with the formalities required by law.

(5)  A codicil shall be executed with the same formalities as a will.

732.504. Who may witness.  
(1) Any person competent to be a witness may act as a witness to a will.

(2) A will or codicil, or any part of either, is not invalid because the will or codicil is signed by an interested witness.

732.507  Effect of subsequent marriage, birth, adoption, or dissolution of marriage.
(1)  Neither subsequent marriage, birth, nor adoption of descendants shall revoke the prior will of any person, but the pretermitted child or spouse shall inherit as set forth in ss. 732.301 and 732.302, regardless of the prior will.

(2)  Any provision of a will executed by a married person that affects the spouse of that person shall become void upon the divorce of that person or upon the dissolution or annulment of the marriage. After the dissolution, divorce, or annulment, the will shall be administered and construed as if the former spouse had died at the time of the dissolution, divorce, or annulment of the marriage, unless the will or the dissolution or divorce judgment expressly provides otherwise.

732.5165  Effect of fraud, duress, mistake, and undue influence.  A will is void if the execution is procured by fraud, duress, mistake, or undue influence. Any part of the will is void if so procured, but the remainder of the will not so procured shall be valid if it is not invalid for other reasons.

733.107  Burden of proof in contests; presumption of undue influence. …
 (2)  The presumption of undue influence implements public policy against abuse of fiduciary or confidential relationships and is therefore a presumption shifting the burden of proof …
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In re Estate of James W. WEISS

444 Pa. 126,  279 A.2d 189 (1971)


BELL, Chief Justice.  James W. Weiss died on May 29, 1970, at the age of 62.  On August 10, 1970, Joan A. Kemp presented a petition for the probate of decedent’s (alleged) will to the Register of Wills of Berks County, who refused probate.  Joan A. Kemp thereupon took an appeal to the Orphans’ Court (Division), which entered an Order sustaining the action of the Register.  After her exceptions to the Order were dismissed, Joan A. Kemp took the present appeal.  The issue in the case is a very narrow one: was the purported will of James W. Weiss signed ‘at the end thereof,’ as required by Section 2 of the Wills Act of 1947.


The purported will was written on a printed will form, in the blank spaces of which gifts of his entire estate were made by decedent in his handwriting. Furthermore, on this form, which was dated July 3, 1968, Joan A. Kemp was appointed executrix.  On the line normally and ordinarily used for the signature of a testator, there appeared the signature of John B. Boyd, Justice of the Peace.  The signature of the decedent was written vertically along the left side margin of the printed form. ...


If the validity of the will is sustained, Joan A. Kemp, whose relationship to the decedent does not appear in the record, would share the estate equally with her minor son James T. Kemp, and with the decedent’s minor granddaughter Patricia L. Parkyn.  If the will is held to be invalid, the decedent died intestate and his sole heir would be his granddaughter Patricia.


Appellant contends that the will should be sustained on the grounds that (1) it is an obvious testamentary instrument, (2) the signature is (admittedly) that of the decedent, and (3) it is in fact signed ‘at the end thereof,’ since the beginning of decedent’s signature starts right after the conclusion of the dispositive provisions, even though it is in the margin and parallel with the end of all the bequests.


Although the parties stipulated that the signature appearing on the will form is in fact the signature of the decedent James W. Weiss, no testimony was offered as to why the signature was placed in the margin.  In any event, the writing must depend for its validity on its compliance with the mandatory requirements of the Wills Act, supra.


Both parties rely on Treitinger Will, 440 Pa. 616, in which this Court most recently dealt with the question of a valid execution of a will.  In that case, Joseph Treitinger, who at the time he executed his will was a nearly blind widower 86 years of age, signed his name very slantingly to the left of the line normally used for signing a will.  Although his signature trailed off slantingly into the attestation clause, this Court held that it was signed at the logical and sequential end of the language used by him in expressing his testamentary purpose and intentions.  We said in Treitinger Will:

Section 2 of the Wills Act of 1947 ... provides that every will ‘shall be signed by the testator at the end thereof.’  In Knupp Will, 428 Pa. 409, 416, the Court said: 

The law is well settled as to what is meant by the end of a will. In In re Kretz Estate, 410 Pa. 590, the Court said, ‘Since the adoption by the Legislature of the statutory requirement that a will be signed “at the end thereof,” this Court has consistently resisted attempts to weaken or modify the rule. ...’ As early as Wineland’s Appeal, 118 Pa. 37, 41 (1888), Mr. Justice Paxson rather appropriately remarked: ‘It says a will must be signed at the end thereof, and that’s the end of it.’  The end contemplated by the Act is not the point which is physically furthest from the beginning of the writing.  As we said in Kehr Will, 373 Pa. 473, 479 (1953): ‘The end contemplated by the statute is the logical end of the language used by decedent in expressing his testamentary purpose,’ or, as was said in Coyne Will, 349 Pa. 331, 333 (1944): ‘ ... there must be a sequence of pages or paragraphs which relates to its logical and internal sense, And the signature must be placed at the sequential end.’  ...


In our opinion, the facts in this case make it clearly distinguishable from Treitinger Will. Weiss certainly did not sign his name at the sequential or logical end, but only on the margin of the instrument.  However, to hold that a testamentary writing which is signed on the side or margin thereof is valid would ignore and violate the mandatory, statutory requirement that all wills be signed ‘at the end thereof.’ ...
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In re ESTATE of STASIS
452 Pa. 425,  307 A.2d 241 (1973)

JONES, Chief Justice.  This appeal presents a very narrow issue: whether the signature of Angelia Stasis found on a testamentary document purporting to be her will satisfies §2502 of the Probate Estates and Fiduciaries Code, which requires that every will admitted to probate ‘be signed by the testator at the end thereof.’


Angelia Stasis died on October 28, 1966.  On that day a search for a will was made and a sealed envelope was found in her safe deposit box which bore the words ‘Cie mano will’ (Lithuanian for ‘This is my will’) written in the decedent’s hand.  A single sheet of lined paper containing the testamentary writing in question was inside the envelope.  In due course the document, which was also written in Lithuanian in the decedent’s handwriting, was translated and offered for probate.  The Bucks County Register of Wills refused to probate the document and the proponents of the will appealed to the Orphans’ Court. The Orphans’ Court affirmed the decision of the Register and … this  appeal followed.  We reverse the decree of the Orphans’ Court.


There can be no question that the decedent intended the document which the Register of Wills refused to probate to serve as her will.  The single sheet of paper which was found in the envelope begins: ‘Angelia Stasis this is my will and to whom I leave my money to my relatives.’  The document continues with an enumeration of the decedent’s assets with instructions for their distribution to named relatives and friends upon the death of the testatrix.  These instructions for the distribution of the testatrix’ assets take up the entire front side of the document; there is writing on every line and there are no margins.  The testamentary writing continues on the reverse side of the paper where there is a charitable bequest, a provision for funeral expenses, burial instructions, the appointment of executors and the disinheritance of several named relatives.  On the last line of the reverse side of the page is the statement: ‘Be so good and fulfill my wishes.’  There is no signature at the bottom of the reverse side of the page.  However, there is a signature on the page‑‑it is upside down in the margin at the top of the page.  In addition to the signature of the decedent, her address and the statement ‘This was written 1963 October 11 day’ also appear upside down in the margin at the top of the reverse side of the sheet.  The only question presented for our consideration is whether, under the circumstances presented in this will, the signature so placed qualifies as a signature ‘at the end thereof’ as required by the Probate Estates and Fiduciaries Code.


The proponents of the will, appellants in this action, argue that while the signature on this document is admittedly not placed at the physical end of the writing, it is placed at the sequential end. The proponents contend that the sequence is both logical and obvious: after writing ‘Be so good and fulfill my wishes’ on the last line of the reverse side of the sheet, the testatrix had no room for her signature; she then rotated the sheet 180 degrees and signed the document in the only available space left on the page‑‑in the upper margin. The document was then dated and the will was complete.


The appellees do not seriously question the sequence of events advanced by the proponents of the will to explain the positioning of the decedent’s signature. Their position, which was sustained by the lower court, is that neither the manner in which the will was signed nor the intention of the decedent when she signed it is material, since the placement of the signature does not conform with the provisions of the Wills Act.  Neither the statute nor our prior decisional law requires us to take such a narrow position.


The requirement that all wills be signed ‘at the end thereof’ was first introduced into our law by the Wills Act of 1833 and has been restated in every subsequent enactment.  Prior to the Act of 1833 any testamentary document which could be shown to have been executed by the testator could be admitted to probate as a will. This practice led to certain abuses which the Act of 1833 attempted to correct by requiring the testator’s signature at the end of the document.  The evils which fostered the creation of the signature requirement were summarized by Justice Strong in Heise v. Heise, 31 Pa. 246, 248-49 (1858):

Nor should we lose sight of the mischiefs which existed at the time when (the Act of 1833) was enacted; mischiefs which it was designed to remedy. Among these, none was more serious than the facility with which unfinished papers, mere inchoate expressions of intention, were admitted to probate as valid wills of decedents. Letters, memoranda, mere notes unsigned, which were entirely consistent with a half formed purpose, and which may have been thrown aside, and never intended to be operative, were rescued from their abandonment, proven as wills, and allowed to prevail as dispositions of property which there was much reason to believe the decedent never intended. It was to remedy this mischief that the Act of 1833 provided, that every will should be signed at the ‘end thereof.’ 


Although our decisions have been adamant that nothing written after a signature ending a testamentary document may be admitted to probate,5 this Court has also recognized that in certain circumstances both reason and justice require careful scrutiny of the document in question to determine precisely where the ‘end’ of it is.  In several instances we have ruled that the end of the document does not necessarily mean the spatial end or the point which is farthest from the beginning.  The end which is contemplated by the statute is the sequential end‑‑the logical end of the language used by the decedent to express his testamentary purpose.


In Moorow’s Estate, 204 Pa. 479 (1909), a holographic will which had all its dispositive provisions on one side of a single page and the attestation and signature of the testator on the other side of the page was offered for probate.  The will was admitted to probate, even though there was room for the signature at the bottom of the front side of the sheet.  On appeal we affirmed the admission of the document to probate, adopting the opinion of the lower court which stated: 

Who that writes or reads a letter does not involuntarily turn over a leaf after leaf, seeking the continuation, until he comes to the signature?   How many are there who, from force of habit, or prudence, or economy, or necessity, have written wills on both sides of a leaf of foolscap, and how many titles have passed, without a thought of invalidity?   After all, it is the common understanding and practice which must determine questions of this kind.  There have been hundreds of wills written in circumstances of necessity beyond professional aid, and in which the application of technical rules would produce hardships not to be endured.


A testamentary document which was similar, although not identical, to the writing in the present case was presented to this Court in Swire’s Estate, 225 Pa. 188 (1909).  In Swire’s Estate, the testatrix’s will consisted of twelve numbered paragraphs arranged on one side of a single sheet of paper.  Paragraphs one through eight were written in the normal fashion across the page, while paragraphs nine through twelve were written vertically in the left hand margin.  The testatrix’s signature followed the eighth paragraph and was located in the bottom right corner of the page. Speaking through Mr. Chief Justice Mitchell, the Court stated: 

The statute requires that a will shall be in writing, and signed by the testator ‘at the end thereof.’  The end meant by this provision is the logical end of the language used, which shows that the testamentary purpose has been fully expressed.  The position of the signature with regard to the bottom or end of the page is only evidence on the question whether the testator has completed the expression of his intention.  Prima facie that is the natural place for the signature to be placed to show the full expression of the testator’s wishes and therefore is presumptively the right place for it, but it is only evidence and must give way to evidence of a different intent.

After a review of earlier cases the Court concluded: 

In the present case the connected sense of the text is entirely clear, though it does not follow the usual order of arrangement. But it does not deviate from it more than many letters written in the style of the present day where the writing jumps from the first to the third page and then back to the second.  The full substance of the testatrix’s intent and its expression are there, and the signature is at what she intended and regarded as the end of her will.  Where that is manifest the continuity of sense and not the mere position on the page must determine the statutory ‘end thereof’ as the place for the signature. 


Since 1833 our Wills Act has required every document which purports to pass property as a will to be ‘signed at the end thereof.’  However, to avoid extreme injustice, our decisional law has also recognized that in certain limited circumstances the document must be closely examined to determine exactly where the ‘end’ of the document is.  In the present case it is clear that after the testatrix wrote ‘Be so good and fulfill my wishes’ at the bottom of the second side of the sheet she intended to serve as her will, she had no room left to sign her name.  Rather than use another sheet of paper for her signature, she simply rotated the page 180 degrees and signed the document in the only remaining space available on the page‑‑in the upper margin.  Although the testatrix’s signature is not at the spatial end of the document‑‑the point farthest from the beginning‑‑there is no question that within the context of this will the signature is at the sequential end.  So placed, this signature fulfills all the functions it is required to perform: it provides authentication for the instrument setting forth the testamentary wishes of the testatrix; it identifies the testatrix; and it provides certainty as to her completed testamentary purpose.
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

74.  What test does Pennsylvania use to determine whether a signature is at the end of a document?  Why is the test met in Stasis and in Swire (discussed in Stasis) but not in Weiss?  Can you tell a story about what might have happened in Weiss that would make it seem more like the other two cases?
75.  Why would a state require the signature be at the end of the will? Are the results of the cases consistent with the reasons for the rule?  Would it satisfy the test if there was a gap of four or five inches between the end of the text and the signature line?
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In re Strittmater’s Estate
140 N.J. Eq. 94,  53 A.2d 205 (1947)

Vice Ordinary Bigelow:  This is an appeal from a decree of the Essex County Orphans’ Court admitting to probate the will of Louisa F. Strittmater. Appellants challenge the decree on the ground that testatrix was insane.


The only medical witness was Dr. Sarah D. Smalley, a general practitioner who was Miss Strittmater’s physician all her adult life. In her opinion, decedent suffered from paranoia of the Bleuler type of split personality. The factual evidence justifies the conclusion. But I regret not having had the benefit of an analysis of the data by a specialist in diseases of the brain.


The deceased never married. Born in 1896, she lived with her parents until their death about 1928, and seems to have had a normal childhood. She was devoted to both her parents and they to her. Her admiration and love of her parents persisted after their death to 1934, at least. Yet four years later she wrote: ‘My father was a corrupt, vicious, and unintelligent savage, a typical specimen of the majority of his sex. Blast his wormstinking carcass and his whole damn breed.’ And in 1943, she inscribed on a photograph of her mother ‘That Moronic she‑devil that was my mother.’


Numerous memoranda and comments written by decedent on the margins of books constitute the chief evidence of her mental condition. Most of them are dated in 1935, when she was 40 years old. But there are enough in later years to indicate no change in her condition. The Master who heard the case in the court below, found that the proofs demonstrated ‘incontrovertably her morbid aversion to men’ and ‘feminism to a neurotic extreme.’ This characterization seems to me not strong enough. She regarded men as a class with an insane hatred. She looked forward to the day when women would bear children without the aid of men, and all males would be put to death at birth. Decedent’s inward life, disclosed by what she wrote, found an occasional outlet such as the incident of the smashing of the clock, the killing of the pet kitten, vile language, etc. On the other hand,‑‑and I suppose this is the split personality,‑‑Miss Strittmater, in her dealings with her lawyer, Mr. Semel, over a period of several years, and with her bank, to cite only two examples, was entirely reasonable and normal.


Decedent, in 1925, became a member of the New Jersey branch of the National Women’s Party. From 1939 to 1941, and perhaps later, she worked as a volunteer one day a week in the New York office, filing papers, etc. During this period, she spoke of leaving her estate to the Party. On October 31, 1944, she executed her last will, carrying this intention into effect. A month later, December 6, she died. Her only relatives were some cousins of whom she saw very little during the last few years of her life.


The question is whether Miss Strittmater’s will is the product of her insanity. Her disease seems to have become well developed by 1936. In August of that year she wrote, ‘It remains for feministic organizations like the National Women’s Party, to make exposure of women’s ‘protectors’ and ‘lovers’ for what their vicious and contemptible selves are.’ She had been a member of the Women’s Party for eleven years at that time, but the evidence does not show that she had taken great interest in it. I think it was her paranoic condition, especially her insane delusions about the male, that led her to leave her estate to the National Women’s Party. The result is that the probate should be set aside.


[In a Per Curiam opinion, the New Jersey Court of Errors and Appeals affirmed the decision and reasoning of Vice Ordinary Bigelow by a vote of 10-2.]
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

76.  If you are mentally competent and have no dependents, you can dispose of your assets in any way you see fit, even if most people would consider your choices absurd.  Assuming that they also have no dependents, why don’t we let people who are mentally incapacitated do whatever they’d like in their wills? 

77.   What evidence is there on each side regarding the claim that Ms. Strittmater was of unsound mind? Would Ms. Strittmater pass the test for capacity found on S95 (B1 in the outline)?  Can you imagine a story other than the one the court accepts that might explain her behavior?
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Estate of Webb v. Oklahoma National Bank and Trust Co. 

863 P.2d 1116 (Okla. 1993) 

WATT, J.:  FACTS: The seeds of the dispute that caused these appeals were planted when Clara Webb’s brother, Earnest “Pete” Webb, died at the age of 74 on May 27, 1988. Pete Webb, had worked as an accountant for Mobil Oil. He had never married, lived frugally, and left an estate of more than $ 700,000.00, most of it in cash and securities.  Pete Webb was one of four brothers and a sister.  None of Pete Webb’s brothers were living at his death. Pete Webb’s sister, Clara Webb, who was 90 when Pete Webb died, survived him. In his will, Pete Webb left his entire estate to Miss Webb.  Miss Webb died on February 18, 1989.  Most events relevant to this appeal took place between the time of Pete Webb’s death and Miss Webb’s.

   
Miss Webb never married; consequently her heirs at law were all collateral heirs. Miss Webb’s heirs, the contestants here, were the child, grand‑children, and great‑grand‑children of Miss Webb’s brother, Wallace Webb, who died in 1939.

   
Miss Webb had taught school in Cement until her retirement in about 1964. After her retirement, Miss Webb moved back to Amber and kept house for her father and two of her brothers, all of whom predeceased Pete Webb. Miss Webb had lived alone for several years before Pete Webb’s death. Her house was on land, near Amber, Oklahoma, which her mother and father had bought in 1909. Miss Webb kept her own house, did her own banking, and shopped for her clothes. She had never owned an automobile nor had she learned to drive, so she had always relied on others to furnish transportation.  Miss Webb was hard of hearing but bought hearing aids in October 1988. … Before Pete Webb’s death, Miss Webb had no income other than her teacher’s retirement pay and the income from farm crops.

   
Donnavin Higgins, who was 51 when Pete Webb died, had known Miss Webb since about 1983. Higgins and Miss Webb shared a love of music. During gatherings at Miss Webb’s house, Miss Webb would play the piano, and Higgins the violin. Higgins had occasionally done work around Miss Webb’s house for her. Miss Webb and Higgins had always been good friends, and following Pete Webb’s death, developed an even closer relationship. Higgins ran errands, drove Miss Webb, did some work, and supervised other work, around Miss Webb’s property. Higgins had been married for over thirty years and had three children. By 1988, however, he and his wife had divorced. Higgins had been a bulldozer operator, had done odd jobs, and other construction work.  He had filed for bankruptcy in 1987.

   
After her brother Pete’s death, Miss Webb started to give Higgins some money. Higgins would accept no salary, but Miss Webb gave him cash and spent other money for his benefit.  In June 1988, Miss Webb bought a five year old Cadillac, which she put in both Higgins’s and her names. Later Miss Webb gave her one‑half interest in the car to Higgins, but continued to pay all expenses associated with the car. Higgins drove Miss Webb everywhere she needed to go. They took frequent trips together. They went to World of Animals, to Cement to visit some of Miss Webb’s former students, who were by then in their fifties, to Oklahoma City, and to other places. Miss Webb gave Higgins a camera, which he and Miss Webb used on the trips they took together.  The record shows the total purchase price and expenses of the car totaled a little over $ 12,000.00, and that Miss Webb gave to Higgins and spent for his benefit another $ 12,000.00. In late September 1988, Miss Webb conveyed 50 acres of land to Higgins.

   
Miss Webb’s niece, Nadine Raffoul, lived in Houston, Texas. Ms. Raffoul was the daughter of the Webb brother, Wallace, who had died in 1939. She stood to inherit one‑fourth of Miss Webb’s property not disposed of by will.  In mid October 1988, while she was in Oklahoma, Ms. Raffoul called on Miss Webb and asked her about the car and land Miss Webb had given Higgins. Ms. Raffoul severely criticized Higgins, and advised Miss Webb to end her relationship with him but Miss Webb refused to respond to anything Ms Raffoul said about Higgins. Ms. Raffoul soon understood that her Aunt Clara was not prepared to accept her advice about Higgins. 

   
Ms. Raffoul admitted that it had been her intention when she met with Miss Webb to ask Miss Webb to agree to a conservatorship of her property.  Ms. Raffoul also admitted that she did not like Higgins, because, she claimed, Higgins had made a statement to her, years earlier, which she had construed to be a sexual advance.  Ms. Raffoul decided not to ask Miss Webb about the conservatorship because she knew “it wasn’t going to work.” Nevertheless, Ms. Raffoul hired a lawyer and, on November 14, 1988, filed an action seeking the involuntary appointment of a conservator.  Ms. Raffoul also admitted that she knew Miss Webb was angry with her because Ms. Raffoul had tried to have a conservator appointed. Despite her anger over Ms. Raffoul’s conduct, Miss Webb left Ms. Raffoul securities valued at more that $ 10,000.00.

   
Another of Miss Webb’s relatives, her cousin Doris Early, testified that Miss Webb was bossy. Doris Early was asked about an occasion when she “and Pete jumped on to [Miss Webb] about Donnavin,” and Miss Webb “turned around and walked out of the room.” Doris Early explained that Miss Webb usually “just walked away” when “somebody tried to get her to do something she didn’t want to do.”

   
In November, after Ms. Raffoul filed her conservatorship action, Higgins drove Miss Webb to the Offices of George Miskovsky, Sr.’s law firm in Oklahoma City.  Miss Webb retained the Miskovsky firm to defend her in the conservatorship proceeding. Miss Webb met with Mr. Miskovsky, while Higgins waited in the reception area. Mr. Miskovsky then prepared a will for Miss Webb, which she signed.

   
Several weeks later, on December 12, 1988, Higgins again took Miss Webb to Mr. Miskovsky’s office, where she made some changes to her will.
 Again, Miss Webb met with Mr. Miskovsky out of Higgins’s presence to discuss her will. Miss Webb signed the will while she was in Mr. Miskovsky’s office.  It is the December 12 will that was submitted for probate.   This will contains detailed specific bequests.  Miss Webb made twenty‑one carefully described specific bequests of securities and devises of real property to twenty‑six different individuals and charities, including Oklahoma Memorial Hospital, and the M.D. Anderson Medical Center in Houston.
  Two of these twenty‑six gifts were to Higgins. Miss Webb left Higgins her house, forty acres of land surrounding it, and 4200 shares of Mobil Oil stock. The property left to Higgins comprised slightly over one‑third of Miss Webb’s $ 780,000.00 estate. Miss Webb named as executor Donald P. Ferguson, a Chickasha lawyer.

   
Miss Webb died of cancer. The record does not reflect that she, or anyone else, knew she was seriously ill until February 5, 1989 when she entered the hospital.    Contestants do not claim that Miss Webb was mentally incompetent. In any event, the record would not support such a claim. Contestants insist, however, that Miss Webb’s free will was overborne by Higgins’s and that the December 12 will was the result of undue influence exerted by Higgins.
  We disagree.  

… [T]he trial court heard evidence on the undue influence issues on January 8 through 11, 1991. Following that hearing the trial court entered findings of fact and conclusions of law in which it refused to admit Miss Webb’s will to probate, set aside the conveyance of the fifty acres, and the gift of the car to Higgins on the ground that Higgins had exerted undue influence over Miss Webb. ...   Higgins ... appealed the undue influence finding... .

ISSUE:  Does the record support the trial court’s findings that Miss Webb’s transfers of real and personal property to Higgins, and Miss Webb’s will were the result of Higgins’s exertion of undue influence?

DISCUSSION:  Contestants claim that Miss Webb’s decisions to give Higgins the land and the car, and to leave him property under her will were the result of Higgins’s undue influence. Thus, two sets of statutes cut across their claim. Conveyances, and gifts of personal property, obtained by undue influence may be set aside under the terms of 15 O.S. 1991 §61 and §233.
  Gifts by will obtained through undue influence may also be set  aside under the terms of 84 O.S. 1991 §43.  We see no need to distinguish between Miss Webb’s lifetime gifts to Higgins and the gifts she made to him in her will. We believe our analysis here applies equally to both categories.

    
The fact that Higgins may have had some influence on Miss Webb does not make her decision to give him property during her lifetime and to remember him in her will subject to attack. If Miss Webb decided to give her property to Higgins out of affection and gratitude, his influence was not wrongful. “Influence secured through acts of kindness is not wrongful, and therefore not undue.” Canfield v. Canfield, 167 Okla. 590 (1934).  “The word ‘undue’ when used to qualify ‘influence’ has the legal meaning of ‘wrongful’ so that ‘undue influence means a wrongful influence, but influence acquired through affection is not wrongful.” Id. To be actionable, the influence of another “must destroy the grantor’s free agency, … in effect, substitute the will of another for that of the grantor.” Watkins v. Musselman, 205 Okla. 514 (1951).

   
We cannot know what Higgins’s true motives were in befriending Miss Webb, and we are not called upon to inquire. “It is not the province of the courts to unravel all of the intricacies of human relationship.” Canfield. Instead, our focus must be upon Miss Webb: Was she weak willed and, therefore, abnormally susceptible to being influenced by others? The answer is clearly no.  Ms. Raffoul’s testimony shows that Miss Webb flatly, although courteously, refused to take Ms. Raffoul’s advice concerning Higgins. Miss Webb had been so firm in declining Ms. Raffoul’s unsolicited advice that Ms. Raffoul could not bring herself to ask Miss Webb to agree to a conservatorship of her property.  Doris Early also complained that Miss Webb would take neither her advice nor Pete Webb’s to have nothing further to do with Higgins. We note in this regard that Pete Webb left his entire estate to Miss Webb, despite his apparent dislike of Higgins. Whether Miss Webb’s refusal to take Ms. Raffoul’s and Doris Early’s advice was good judgment or bad, Miss Webb’s actions showed no tendency to allow her will to be overborne by others.

 
Contestants make much of Miss Webb’s increased expenditures in 1988 compared to her expenditures in 1985 through 1987. We find this fact irrelevant to the issues here. Her inheritance of her brother’s estate instantly changed Miss Webb’s economic status from pensioner to what most people would regard as a wealthy woman. Of $66,831 Miss Webb spent in 1988, nearly $20,000 went to pay for her brother’s funeral expenses, to buy hearing aids for herself, and to the Miskovsky firm, who were defending her in Ms. Raffoul’s conservatorship action. The $12,000 she spent on the five year old Cadillac, coupled with Higgins’s loyalty to her, gave Miss Webb the kind of independence those who have always owned and driven cars take for granted. That she would spend $12,000 to achieve such freedom for the first time in her long life is not surprising.

   
There is nothing in the record to support an inference that Miss Webb’s gifts to Higgins were unduly influenced by Higgins.  Miss Webb’s decision to give property to Higgins is not evidence that Miss Webb did not exercise her own free will in doing so.  Miss Webb was an educated woman who had been a school teacher for decades before her retirement. She had never married, and had lived alone for many years. In short, Miss Webb was a woman accustomed to living her own life and making her own decisions. By contrast, Higgins was a man of little education, who had worked in unskilled and semiskilled jobs his entire life. Miss Webb was nearly old enough to be Higgins’s grandmother. We fail to see anything Higgins did, or could have done, to convince Miss Webb to do anything that Miss Webb did not wish to do.

   
Our conclusion that Miss Webb’s decision to give some of her property to Higgins was not the result of undue influence is buttressed by another factor.  There was nothing unnatural about Miss Webb giving Higgins some of her property, although he was not a blood relative. Miss Webb had never married and, therefore, had no direct heirs.  Her nearest relative, her niece Nadine Raffoul, lives in Houston, Texas. Nor does the record show a particularly close relationship between Miss Webb and any of the other contestants. Nevertheless, Miss Webb remembered many of them in her will.

Contestants rely on Matter of the Estate of Beal, 769 P.2d 150 (Okla. 1989) to support their contention that the record supports the trial court’s finding of undue influence. A review of the facts in Beal convinces us that contestants’ faith in it is misplaced. In Beal the proponent of the will actively participated in its preparation.  Further, there was evidence that the testator was weak minded. Here, the record is undisputed that Higgins did not participate in the making of Miss Webb’s will.  Miss Webb was far from weak minded, as shown by her resistance to Ms. Raffoul’s aggressive campaign to deprive Miss Webb of discretion over the disposal of her property.

   
According to contestants, Higgins had a confidential relationship with Miss Webb. Assuming such a relationship existed, it avails contestants nothing because the undisputed proof shows that Miss Webb had an independent nature. In In re Estate of Newkirk, 456 P.2d 104, 108 (Okla. 1969) the decedent’s widow and daughter contested a provision in decedent’s will, in which the testator left all his property to his long time paramour, whom he had held out to be his wife.  Although the paramour had enjoyed a confidential relationship with the decedent, we held that its existence did not establish undue influence because “Uncontroverted evidence of testator’s strong will and positive character effectively negated contestants’ claim based upon such relationships.”

   
In In re Jones Estate, 190 Okla. 123 (1942)  the  testatrix left no direct heirs. We held there was nothing unnatural in the testatrix having decided to leave her estate to a non‑relative. Although the non‑relative beneficiary “had extended from time to time to the testatrix a little help and consideration under circumstances which were calculated to make the testatrix feel grateful therefor, . . .” we said, “a will made in favor of a person under such circumstances cannot be held to  have been made as a result of undue influence.”  . . .

   
Ms. Raffoul testified at trial that she “fully expected” the property to be left in the “family.” Despite the contestants’ expectations, the property at issue here was not “family” property, it was Clara Webb’s property, hers to dispose of as she saw fit.  As this is a case of equitable cognizance we are free to overrule the trial court because of our conclusion that the evidence does not support the trial court’s decision that Clara Webb was acting under undue influence.
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

78.  Look at the Oklahoma Statute in footnote 4 in Webb.  What kinds of cases does it suggest the legislature was concerned about?  Is there a sensible way to distinguish between undue influence and cases where somebody’s kindness or hard work persuades the testator to leave them money or property?

79.  What is the strongest evidence supporting the undue influence claim in Webb.  What evidence supports the court’s conclusion that there was no undue influence?
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REVIEW PROBLEMS

(4A) Discuss the factual and legal research you would need to do to advise Shelly if she came to you for help regarding her concerns described below.  Assume that Abbigail’s lawyers ensured that her will was executed with all the formalities required in the jurisdiction:  Last month, Shelly’s Great Aunt Abbigail died at age 76 of a brain tumor.  Abbigail was a well-respected physician whose husband passed away ten years ago.  To Shelly’s dismay, Abbigail left most of her sizable estate to Matt, her 37 year-old personal trainer whom she had known for only two or three years. When Abbigail’s tumor was discovered nine months ago, Matt apparently gave up his job to care for her.  Shelly was grateful to Matt, because she herself could not have taken an equivalent amount of time off from her successful dental practice to care for her Great Aunt.  However, she thinks the extent to which Matt was rewarded was excessive and she is worried that Matt took advantage of Abbigail in her weakened condition. 


In another part of Abbigail’s will, Shelly received the house in which Abbigail had lived and practiced medicine for almost 50 years.  In 1960, she and her husband had designed the large rambling house and had it built on an oddly-shaped wooded lot near a small town.  The house includes three rooms on the ground floor in which Abbigail saw patients and managed her medical practice.  Shelly has always dreamed of using this house for her own dental practice.
(4B) Discuss who is entitled to the $2,000,000 and to Lodgeacre in the following scenario: I.V. Yousser, noted actor and party boy, was dying of HIV-disease (acquired through sharing needles at studio parties).  Shortly before he got ill, he met Bunny Hefner, a nightclub waitress, and began an affair with her.  After I.V. got sick, Bunny was by his side at Jefferson Hospital, night and day.  I.V.’s only living relation was his son, Sid, who was working in the Peace Corps in Cameroon.

One day shortly before he died, during one of the few hours he was awake, Bunny called I.V.’s lawyer and told him to draft the following will:  

I leave $2,000,000 to Jefferson Hospital. I leave the rest of my estate to my friend Bunny, who was with me in my time of need.
The lawyer drafted the will, and brought it back to I.V. to sign.  Bunny left the room.  Two nurses and the Chief of Staff of the Hospital witnessed I.V. read the will over and sign it.  After he signed it, he looked at them and said, “I’m glad my creep of a son will get nothing, and it’s a good thing the toads have won.”  He then fell asleep.  The nurses and the Chief of Staff signed the will.  

I.V. died a few days later. After his medical debts were paid, besides the $2,000,000 earmarked for the hospital, there was nothing left of I.V.’s property but a small piece of land, Lodgeacre, containing a furnished mountain cabin.  
(4C) Discuss how Victoria’s  family might challenge her will in the following scenario:  Victoria Zayres was a hemophiliac who contracted AIDS through blood transfusions.  About a week before she died, the physician attending her, Dr. Killjoy, brought a lawyer to her.  With the doctor in the room, Victoria dictated her will to the lawyer.  While she was dictating, she sometimes mumbled incoherently and the doctor had to explain what she was saying.   The will, which was executed with all proper formalities, left all her property to Dr. Killjoy, except her "collection of Beatles tapes which I leave to my brother John."  

(4D) Discuss whether the grant of the coliseum is valid in the following scenario:  In 1985, Sean, a wealthy elderly man, went to his lawyers to begin working on his will. He had no wife or descendants, and did not get along with his brother Mark.  He barely knew his next closest relatives, his deceased sister’s twin adult sons, Paul and Phil, and Mark’s 12-year old daughter, Debbie. He had never written a will before and was interested in leaving a great deal of money to charity.  

In the process of doing his estate planning, Sean worked very closely with Jessica, a partner at the law firm, and during the time they spent together, they fell in love.  After they had known each other for several months, Sean repeatedly stated a desire to make Jessica a beneficiary of his will.  She protested repeatedly, but he insisted.  When it became clear that he would not change his mind, she provided Brian, a junior associate at the firm, with her drafts of the will, and asked him to put it together for Sean.

At Sean’s urging, Brian redrafted the will using Jessica’s drafts as a guide, but adding a bequest to Jessica.  Under the final version of the will, the bulk of Sean’s estate still went to charity, but Jessica received Cogswell Coliseum, a large civic auditorium.  When the will was ready, Brian invited Sean into a special room that the firm used for will signings.  The room contained video equipment to record the ceremony to help demonstrate the validity of the will.  Brian started the tape running while Sean read over the will.  Sean then signed the will and Brian signed as a witness.  Brian then called to a legal assistant who was walking in the hall nearby.  When the legal assistant entered the room, Brian asked Sean to affirm that the document was his will.  After Sean did so, the legal assistant signed as a witness.   After the ceremony, Brian was uncertain that he had done things correctly, so he hid the videotape in the back of a file drawer.

Early in 1986, Sean’s brother Mark died.  Jessica, who still was involved with Sean, successfully urged him to begin to get to know his nephews and his niece as they were his only surviving family.  In April 1987, Sean died as well, and the will Brian drafted was admitted to probate. 
(4E) Discuss any challenges that can be made to Scott’s will in the following scenario:  Scott Samuels was in the hospital dying of a degenerative nerve disease that caused a lot of pain but left his mind clear.  He was made cranky not only by the pain, but because his only close relative, his daughter Randi, was serving in the military overseas, and could not be by his bedside.  Most of the nurses in the hospital greatly dislike dealing with Scott; one of them remarked that it made you “go bats” to have to work with him.  

One nurse, Jamie Josephson (known as “JJ”) managed to get along fine with Scott.  When he was cranky, she laughed at him and flirted with him.  When he called her names, she’d tug on his earlobe and call him “naughty.” When she was doing medically required procedures that he didn’t like, and he asked why she didn’t just leave him alone, she would smile and say, “Because I’m trying to get you to leave me all your money.”

One day, after JJ had been working with Scott for several weeks, he told her he had called his law firm and they were sending over a lawyer to redo his will so he could really leave her all his money.  She laughed and said “It’s about time.”  She was surprised at the end of her shift to see that the lawyer sent over was her high school friend Nelsy Buist.  JJ and Nelsy talked for a while, then JJ went home and Nelsy went into Scott’s room to do the will.


A few days later, Scott had a very bad day.  In great pain, with his blood pressure very low, he resisted JJ’s attempts to care for his body.  At one point he barked, “If you won’t leave me alone, I want you to call my lawyer right now so I can take you out of my will.”  She laughed and said, “Honey, you’re way too sick today to do anything like that.  Let’s see how you are tomorrow.”  The following day, she asked him if he still wanted her to call the lawyer, and he said, “Don’t bother.”  Two days later, he died.


At the time of his death, Scott owned a 10-acre rectangular lot bordered on the west by Lake McNamee.  On the lot, near the lake was a 6-bedroom “guest house.”  On the east side of the lot was the 12-bedroom “main house,” connected to the lake by a paved walkway.


In his will, which contained all the formalities necessary in the jurisdiction, Scott left Randi his vintage 280Z sports car, left to a museum “my valuable collection of Roy Lichtenstein art,” and then said,

The lakefront property should be split into two equal halves.  My daughter Randi, who never really appreciated the lake, can have the eastern half and the main house.  Nurse JJ, who put up with more than she should have, can have the western half and the guest house.

(4F)
In 1997, 23-year old David Cheyanne (DC) Dent, the lead singer of the band “Sausage & Mushrooms,” was diagnosed with brain cancer.   DC entered a clinic run by well-known specialist Dr. Angelica Arzhang in the little-known state of Sussonneff.  Dr. Arzhang was famous for keeping very tight control of her patients, limiting visiting hours, and insisting that they follow her directions to the letter.  DC didn’t mind this, as he was used to being told what to do by his agent.  After several months at the clinic, DC became quite close to Dr. Arzhang.  He would tell her stories about his wild life as a musician on the road and she would talk about her lifelong dream of running a summer camp.  


DC’s only living relative was his aunt, Major Meaghan Mercure, who was stationed at the Fort Norris army base not far from the clinic.  On New Year’s Day 1998, while she was visiting DC, the two had a nasty argument about politics and Major Mercure stormed out.  DC then insisted that he write a will immediately so that his aunt would not get any of his property.  

Dr. Arzhang couldn’t reach DC’s regular lawyer, so she called her own lawyer, Houston Hughes.  Before Hughes arrived, DC had a brief seizure, which left him unable to speak.  Worried that he was dying, DC grabbed a pen and a paper napkin.  While Dr. Arzhang talked gently to him to try to calm him down, DC rapidly scribbled down instructions for the will, then fell asleep.  

When Hughes got to the clinic, he drafted a will based on DC’s instructions, occasionally asking Dr. Arzhang for help translating a badly written word.  Hughes then printed out the will on one of the clinic’s printers.  Dr. Arzhang awakened DC, who looked at the will sleepily, then grabbed his pen and signed it.

Dr. Arzhang brought in two nurses, Kristen and Shari.  Hughes explained the situation. DC then pointed to the will and mimed signing it.  Next, Hughes and Kristen signed the will as witnesses.  Before Shari could sign, DC had another seizure.  Dr. Arzhang shoved everyone else out of the room and Shari then signed the will in the hall.  DC never regained consciousness and died the next day.   His aunt, still angry about their argument, did not attend his funeral.  A few months later, the army deployed her to the Middle East.

At the time he died, DC owned a wooded lot in Sussonneff with some old army barracks on it He had bought the lot because it was next to a factory where Farbotko’s Frozen Foods (FFF) made his favorite frozen pizzas.  DC’s will divided the wooded lot into two parts.  He left the north half containing the old barracks (Northacre) to Dr. Arzhang “for her to live her camp dreams.”  The south half (Southacre), he left to FFF “to help carry on an extra large tradition of great pies.” He left his other assets to well-known charities. DC’s will did not mention his aunt at all.


In the spring of 1998, Dr. Arzhang cleaned up the old barracks on Northacre and painted them a dark greenish brown so they’d blend in with the woods. She also built a fence along the property line separating Northacre from Southacre.  That summer and every summer since, she has operated a sleep-away camp on Northacre for about 30 girls from mid-June to Mid-August.  

PROBLEM 4F CONTINUES ON THE NEXT PAGE

PROBLEM 4F CONTINUED

Every summer, when camp ends, Dr. Arzhang packs up all her equipment (including the directional signs, the cots and bedding, and the cooking and sports gear) and puts it into an off-site storage facility.  After the equipment is stored, she thoroughly cleans the barracks and the grounds and leaves virtually no trace of the camp. In the late spring, she sets the camp up again, repainting the barracks the same color every third year.


Kevin Kyle is the manager of the FFF factory next to the wooded lot.  Because the woods on Southacre are so beautiful, Kevin mostly has let the surface of Southacre run wild since 1998. He allows members of the public to hike and picnic in the woods, but fewer than 100 people a year actually do this.  Every two months, Kevin has employees survey the lot, pick up any litter, and deal with any dangerous conditions that they find. Once or twice a year, FFF holds events on the lot for its employees, but Kevin has had his staff clean up thoroughly after these events.  

Meanwhile, Kevin’s staff built a huge underground complex that includes space for manufacturing, storage, offices, and a gym and pool for the employees. The complex lies under about 30% of the surface of Southacre.  During its construction, Kevin’s staff tried to disturb the woods on the surface as little as possible.  When the complex was completed in 1999, they restored the affected parts of the woods to essentially their original condition. Since its completion, the complex has been an integral part of the operation of the FFF factory. 

In the years since DC’s death, the U.S. Army sometimes had stationed Major Mercure at Fort Norris and sometimes at various postings in the Middle East.  In January 2010, she was wounded in Afghanistan and was flown to a V.A. Hospital in Sussonneff.  There she met Shari, one of the nurses who had witnessed DC’s will.  Troubled by Shari’s description of what had taken place when her nephew’s will was signed, and worrying that she had been robbed, Major Mercure hired a lawyer to contest the will and reclaim both Northacre and Southacre.

Discuss whether Major Mercure is likely to succeed in getting title to Northacre and/or Southacre. Assume that she can still contest the will in 2010. In the state of Sussonneff, the statutory period for adverse possession is ten years. 

5 See, e.g., Weiss Estate, 444 Pa. 126, 279 A.2d 189 (1971).


� The November will is not a part of the record, nor are any earlier wills that Miss Webb may have made.


� When asked at trial if she thought Higgins had exerted undue influence on Miss Webb to make the bequests to the other beneficiaries, Ms. Raffoul testified, I think somebody told Clara to think of all the people she could and write them down there and it would be that many more that we would have to contest. It makes it look better for Higgins cause he wasn't taking the whole thing. You want to know my opinion, that's it.”


� The only expert testimony on the subject of Miss Webb’s susceptibility to undue influence came from Miss Webb’s treating physician who testified that Miss Webb might have been more susceptible to being influenced by someone else because she had cancer. However the record contains a letter the doctor wrote on March 30, 1989 in which he stated that he had been asked about Miss Webb’s mental status on that date. In his letter, the doctor said that he had not known Miss Webb before February 5, 1989 but when he saw her on that date, “She was felt to be alert and oriented as to time place and person.”


�  15 O.S. 1991 §61 defines undue influence in the following language:


Undue influence consists:


   	1. In the use, by one in whom a confidence is reposed by another, or who holds a real or apparent authority over him, of such confidence or authority for the purpose of obtaining an unfair advantage over him.


   	2. In taking an unfair advantage of another's weakness of mind; or,


   	3. In taking a grossly oppressive and unfair advantage of another's necessities or distress.
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